THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In the Court of Appeals

---

**RECEIVED**

**Feb 08 2021**

**SC Court of Appeals**

APPEAL FROM GREENVILLE COUNTY  
Charles B. Simmons, Jr., Master-in-Equity

---

Appellate Case No. 2020-000669  
Case No. 2016-CP-23-5905

---

Renewable Water Resources,..... Respondent,

v.

Insurance Reserve Fund, a Division of the  
State Fiscal Accountability Authority of South Carolina, ..... Appellant.

---

**BRIEF OF APPELLANT**

---

Andrew F. Lindemann  
LINDEMANN & DAVIS, P.A.  
5 Calendar Court, Suite 202  
Post Office Box 6923  
Columbia, South Carolina 29260  
(803) 881-8920

John R. Devlin, Jr.  
DEVLIN & ANTLEY, P.A.  
27 Cleveland Street, Suite 201

## STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

- I. Did the trial court err in finding coverage and making an award for a covered loss under the Building and Personal Property Policy issued by the Insurance Reserve Fund?
  - A. Did the trial court err in its interpretation and application of the language "direct physical loss or damage" and specifically in disregarding existing South Carolina authority applying that language?
  - B. Did the trial court err in awarding consequential and economic loss damages to ReWa as "direct physical loss or damage"?
  - C. Did the trial court err in disregarding the "loss payment" provision in the Building and Personal Property Policy?
  - D. Did the trial court misapply and misread the Supreme Court's decision in *Ocean Winds Council of Co-Owners, Inc. v. Auto-Owners Ins. Company* so as to impermissibly broaden the scope of the insuring agreement to cover preventative measures to protect from future claims?
  - E. Did the trial court err in applying the so-called "protection of property" provision which was never pled and on which no discovery was done?
  - F. Did the trial court err in its application of the so-called "protection of property" provision and in failing to make findings of fact supporting the recovery of any expenses under that provision?
  - G. Did the trial court err in requiring the Insurance Reserve Fund to pay the expenses associated with the dewatering and disposal of biosolids as "covered property," including biosolids that did not exceed the 50 mg/kg threshold under Toxic Substance Control Act?
  - H. Did the trial court err in awarding expenses for the remediation of certain collection lines located outside the premises of the three facilities at issue where those collection lines did not qualify as "covered property"?
  - I. Did the trial court err in finding the "Ordinance or Law Exclusion" did not apply and also in failing to consider or apply the anti-concurrent causation clause in its analysis?
  
- II. Did the trial court commit errors of law in its interpretation and application of DHEC regulations governing land application of biosolids and the National Pollutant Discharge Elimination System (NPDES) permits issued to ReWa under the Clean Water Act, with those errors resulting in the trial court awarding substantial damages for the costs of

remediation at two facilities and the costs of processing and disposal of biosolids in landfills, all of which were not legally required or necessary?

- III. Did the trial court err in failing to make specific findings of fact and conclusions of law in violation of Rule 52(a), SCRCF, and in failing to address many key factual issues raised by the evidence and the parties?
- IV. Did the trial court err in admitting into evidence summary exhibits which do not meet the requirements under Rule 1001, SCRE, and in relying on the information in those exhibits to find that every cost item in the 44-page summary exhibit (with the exception of a few items) was reasonable and necessary to remediate and repair ReWa's facilities?
- V. Did the trial court improperly shift the burden of proof to the insurer to disprove the claimed loss rather than correctly require the insured to prove its covered loss?
- VI. Did the trial court err in failing to give any consideration to the undisputed fact that the Building and Personal Property Policy includes a \$3,000 deductible per occurrence?
- VII. Did the trial court err in denying the Insurance Reserve Fund's motion for new trial absolute in light of the procedural irregularities and absence of fundamental fairness in violation of due process?

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This is an action brought by the Respondent Renewable Water Resources (“ReWa”), which is a special purpose district and hence a governmental entity, against the Defendant South Carolina Insurance Reserve Fund (“IRF”), which is a division of the State Fiscal Accountability Authority. (R. 951). The IRF issued a Building and Personal Property Insurance Policy to the named insured, Renewable Water Resources, bearing Policy Number F130230114, with the effective dates of April 2, 2013 through April 2, 2014. (R. 951). According to its Amended Complaint, ReWa has made a property and casualty claim for losses allegedly suffered at three of its wastewater treatment plants arising from the dumping of PCBs into ReWa’s system by a third-party (Timothy Howard). The IRF also issued a Tort Liability Insurance Policy to ReWa. (R. 952). Just prior to the commencement of this litigation, ReWa also made a claim under that policy.

In its Amended Complaint, ReWa alleged causes of action for declaratory relief and breach of contract with respect to both policies. In addition, ReWa alleged that the IRF’s handling of this claim was conducted in bad faith and sought unspecified consequential damages. (R. 55-72).

The parties consented to refer the case to the Greenville County Master-in-Equity. (R. 1-2). The case came to trial before Judge Charles B. Simmons, Jr. on January 28, 2020. Following three days of testimony, the trial court took the matter under advisement.

Thereafter, on March 18, 2020, the trial court issued an order entering judgment in favor of ReWa in the amount of \$5,824,924.49 under the Building and Personal Property Insurance Policy only. (R. 16). In addition, the trial ruled in favor of the IRF on the claims seeking

coverage under the Tort Liability Insurance Policy. (R. 12-14). The trial court also ruled in favor of the IRF on the bad faith claim. (R. 14).

The IRF filed post-trial motions, including a Motion for Judgment as a Matter of Law and/or Involuntary Nonsuit, a Motion to Alter or Amend Judgment and/or Motion for Reconsideration, and a Motion for New Trial. (R. 147-177). By order filed April 6, 2020, the trial court summarily denied that motion including the requests that the court amend the order to set forth the findings of fact and conclusions of law with sufficient specificity and detail to allow for proper appellate review. (R. 19-21).

Thereafter, the IRF filed a timely notice of appeal.

## STATEMENT OF FACTS

The IRF issued a Building and Personal Property Insurance Policy ("Policy") to ReWa, bearing Policy Number F130230114, with the effective dates of April 2, 2013 through April 2, 2014. (R. 991-997).

On some date during or prior to January 2013, Timothy Howard illegally introduced polychlorinated biphenyls ("PCBs") into the wastewater treatment system operated by ReWa. (R. 952). As conceded by the IRF, Timothy Howard's actions qualify as an act of "vandalism" as used in the Building and Personal Property Insurance Policy. (R. 952). The definition of "specified causes of loss" under the Building and Personal Property Insurance Policy includes "vandalism." (R. 952). Timothy Howard is not an "insured" under any policy of insurance issued by the IRF. (R. 952).

In January 2013, ReWa conducted routine sampling of the wastewater sludge (also referred to as "biosolids") at its Pelham facility. (R. 952). The sampling results reflected PCBs in the sludge in the only digester in operation at Pelham. (R. 575). Confirmation sampling was performed, and additional testing further found PCBs in ReWa's Mauldin Road facility and in the Lower Reedy facility. (R. 952). Prior to the PCB contamination, ReWa principally disposed of sludge generated by its wastewater treatment plants through land application. (R. 953). After the PCBs were discovered, the land application program was suspended by the ReWa Board.

On July 26, 2013, ReWa provided formal notice to representatives of the South Carolina Department of Health and Environmental Control ("DHEC") and the United States Environmental Protection Agency ("EPA") regarding the PCB contamination. (R. 953). Thereafter, on or about July 29, 2013, ReWa contacted AECOM and thereafter hired them to assist with the PCB contamination, including preparing a "Sludge Removal and Disposal Plan" for the Pelham facility.

The “Sludge Removal and Disposal Plan” prepared by AECOM for ReWa was submitted to DHEC on October 17, 2013. With certain conditions, the plan was approved by letter from DHEC dated October 22, 2013. (R. 953).

ReWa submitted a “Summary Remediation Plan for Low-Level PCB Solids Stored at Lower Reedy and Mauldin Road Resource Recovery Facilities” to DHEC on April 15, 2014. (R. 1143). That document was prepared by ReWa personnel and not by AECOM. (R. 954). ReWa received no specific response from DHEC. There was no formal approval received for that plan. (R. 552-553). The Plan as submitted included the following:

The Lower Reedy and Mauldin Road WRRFs have a combined total of approximately 11.3 million gallons of thickened digested solids in storage with low-level PCB concentrations (ranging from 0.66 ppm to 5.8 ppm at Mauldin Road and from 1.3 ppm to 4.2 ppm at Lower Reedy). Of this total volume, Lower Reedy has approximately 9.5 million gallons in storage. ReWa does not currently intend to land apply this material, even though current regulations would allow land application. (R. 1143).

Despite acknowledging that current DHEC and EPA regulations in April 2014 allowed for the land application of the contaminated biosolids at the Mauldin Road and Lower Reedy facilities, ReWa did not land apply those biosolids. (R. 652-659). ReWa did not re-commence land application of the biosolids at Lower Reedy until December 2014, and at Mauldin until May 2015. (R. 647-648). Up through those dates, ReWa was processing both the contaminated biosolids at those facilities as well as ongoing flows and has claimed the increased costs for that processing in its claim made to the IRF. (R. 531-532). ReWa personnel never consulted with the IRF about its decision not to land apply the contaminated biosolids or the ongoing flows at those facilities. (R. 653-655, 872-875).

ReWa did not re-commence land application of the biosolids at Pelham until March 2016. (R. 648). Up through those dates, ReWa was processing both the contaminated biosolids at those

facilities as well as ongoing flows and has claimed the increased costs for that processing in its claim made to the IRF. ReWa personnel never consulted with the IRF about its decision not to land apply the ongoing flows after the clean-up of the contaminated PCBs at Pelham was completed. (R. 654-655, 872-875).

The remediation undertaken by ReWa was limited to three facilities -- Pelham, Mauldin Road, and Lower Reedy. The remediation at the Pelham facility began on November 14, 2013 and was completed on February 19, 2014. (R. 557-558). The remediation at Lower Reedy occurred next and was begun in approximately July 2014 and was completed in mid-November 2014. (R. 560). The remediation at Mauldin Road was started in approximately December 2014 and was completed in June 2015. (R. 560). By June 2015, the PCB remediation at the three facilities was complete. (R. 560).

At Pelham, the structures that contained biosolids that tested positive for PCBs were Digester 1, Biosolid Holding Tanks 3, 4, 5, and 6, Biosolids Overflow Tanks 1 and 2, two wet wells and the influent pump station. All of those structures were constructed of concrete. (R. 578). None of those structures required demolition and replacement. (R. 579). There was no equipment in those structures that required removal and replacement. (R. 579). The structures were cleaned by pressure washing. (R. 579).

At Lower Reedy, the structures that contained biosolids that tested positive for PCBs were Holding Tanks 4 and 5. The test results for Digester 1 was non-detect for PCBs. (R. 582). Holding Tanks 4 and 5 were constructed of concrete. (R. 584). None of those structures required demolition and replacement. (R. 584). There was no equipment in those structures that required removal and replacement. (R. 584). The structures were cleaned by pressure washing. (R. 584).

At Mauldin Road, the structures that contained biosolids that tested positive for PCBs were Digesters 2 and 3, Biosolid Holding Tanks 3, 4, 5, 6, 7, and 8, Biosolid Tanks 1 and 2 (old digesters). (R. 597-598). All of those structures were constructed of concrete. (R. 599). None of those structures required demolition and replacement. (R. 599). There was no equipment in those structures that required removal and replacement. The structures were cleaned by pressure washing. (R. 600).

ReWa was required by Federal law including EPA regulations to decontaminate its facilities which contained PCBs at a level greater than 50 mg/kg concentration and to dispose of Toxic Substance Control Act (TSCA) level material at an approved facility. (R. 441-442, 447). In addition, DHEC required that wastewater have a PCB concentration of less than 0.5 micrograms/liter. (R. 805).

On September 25, 2013, DHEC filed an Emergency Regulation in accordance with S.C. Code Ann. § 1-23-130 which is entitled “Emergency Regulation for Management of Wastewater System Sludge, including Land Application of Sludge, Impacted by Illicit Discharges of Polychlorinated Biphenyls (PCB).” (R. 1109-1112). The Emergency Regulation was effective on September 25, 2013, for a period of ninety days. On December 23, 2013, DHEC re-filed the same verbatim Emergency Regulation. (R. 954). The re-filed Emergency Regulation was effective on December 23, 2013, for a period of ninety days. The re-filed Emergency Regulation expired on March 23, 2014.

On June 27, 2014, DHEC promulgated pursuant to the Administrative Procedures Act amendments to Sections 503 (domestic sludge) and 504 (industrial sludge) of DHEC Regulation 61-9 entitled “Water Pollution Control Permits.” (R. 1146-1151). The amendments were published in the South Carolina State Register on June 27, 2014 and were effective on that date.

Those amendments did not prohibit the land application of PCBs at a level less than 50 mg/kg concentration. (R. 1149).

After the expiration of the Emergency Regulation on March 23, 2014, ReWa was not prohibited by state or federal law from disposing of biosolids containing PCBs at a level less than 50 mg/kg concentration by land application. (R. 653-656). While the Emergency Regulation was in place, ReWa was required to dispose of biosolids containing PCBs at a level less than 50 mg/kg concentration in a local landfill.

## STANDARD OF REVIEW

The standard of review for an action at law on appeal of a case tried without a jury requires the appellate court to not disturb the judge's findings of fact unless found to be without evidence which reasonably supports the judge's findings. *Townes Associates, Ltd. v. City of Greenville*, 266 S.C. 81, 221 S.E.2d 773, 775 (1976).

The standard of review for questions of law is *de novo*. The appellate court "may reverse where the decision is affected by any error of law." *Murphy v. Owens Corning*, 393 S.C. 77, 710 S.E.2d 454, 457 (Ct. App. 2011). The appellate courts are "free to decide matters of law with no particular deference to the fact finder." *Id.*

## ARGUMENTS

### **I. The trial court erred in finding coverage and making an award for a covered loss under the Building and Personal Property Policy issued by the Insurance Reserve Fund.**

#### **A. South Carolina Rules of Construction of Insurance Policies**

The purpose of all rules of construction is to ascertain the intention of the parties to the contract.” *Southern Glass & Plastics Co., Inc. v. Kemper*, 399 S.C. 483, 732 S.E.2d 205, 209 (Ct. App. 2012). “The construction and enforcement of an unambiguous contract is a question of law for the court.” *Id.* Likewise, “[w]hether language is ambiguous is a question of law for the Court.” *Hutchinson v. Liberty Life Ins. Co.*, 404 S.C. 20, 743 S.E.2d 827, 829 (2013).

“Insurance policies are subject to general rules of contract construction. This Court must give policy language its plain, ordinary, and popular meaning. Ambiguous or conflicting terms in an insurance policy must be construed liberally in favor of the insured and strictly against the insurer. However, if the intention of the parties is clear, courts have no authority to torture the meaning of policy language to extend or defeat coverage that was never intended by the parties.” *Diamond States Ins. Co. v. Homestead Industries Inc.*, 318 S.C. 231, 456 S.E.2d 912, 915 (1995).

“The meaning of a particular word or phrase is not determined by considering the word or phrase by itself, but by reading the policy as a whole and considering the context and subject matter of the insurance contract.” *Campbell v. Northern Ins. Co. of New York*, 337 F.Supp.2d 764, 769 (D.S.C. 2004).

## **B. Burden of Proof**

The trial court erred in its analysis and application of the burden of proof. The trial court only states that “the insurer bears the burden of establishing that any exclusions apply.” (R. 7). The trial court never addressed which party has the burden of proof with respect to the various components of the insuring agreement. In *Ex Parte Builders Mut. Ins. Co.*, 431 S.C. 93, 847 S.E.2d 87 (2020), the Supreme Court explained that “the Insureds and the Insurers have the collective burden to show which portions of the general verdict are covered under the CGL policies.” 847 S.E.2d at 92. The Supreme Court cited to *Gamble v. Travelers Ins. Co.*, 251 S.C. 98, 160 S.E.2d 523 (1968) as “explaining the initial burden to prove that a loss is covered under an insurance policy is on the insured, and once the insured has done so, the burden shifts to the insurer to prove that an exclusion applies to defeat coverage.” *Id.* In short, the burden of proving that the loss falls within the insuring agreement is on the insured as well the burden of proving the amount of the loss. *See also, Sunex International, Inc. v. Travelers Indem. Co.*, 185 F.Supp.2d 614, 617 (D.S.C. 2001) (citing *Gamble* and holding “[t]he burden of proof is on the insured to show that a claim falls within the coverage of an insurance contract”).

In addition to failing to address the applicable burden of proof, the trial court misapplied the burden by improperly shifting the burden of proof to the IRF to disprove ReWa’s claimed expenses. As discussed more in length below, this is evident because the only expenses claimed by ReWa that the trial court ultimately declined to award are those that the IRF specifically raised at trial. The trial court never otherwise held ReWa to its burden of proving the expenses that were awarded. The only burden of proof on the IRF was to show the applicability of the “Ordinance or Law Exclusion.” In contrast, the burden fell to ReWa to show that its loss is covered by the Policy and the amount of any covered loss. As to be discussed, the burden of

proof was misapplied by the trial court thereby warranting reversal of the judgment.

**C. Insuring Agreement**

The insuring agreement for the Building and Personal Property Coverage Form states as follows: “We will pay for direct physical loss of or damage to Covered Property at the premises described in the Declarations caused by or resulting from any Covered Cause of Loss.” (R. 991). Thus, the Building and Personal Property Coverage Form is read in conjunction with the form entitled “Causes of Loss – Special Form.” In the “Special Form” the “Covered Causes of Loss” are “risks of direct physical loss” which are not limited to the “specified causes of loss” which is a defined term. (R. 998). Instead, if the loss is caused by or resulting from “risks of direct physical loss,” then there is a covered loss unless otherwise excluded or limited. (R. 998). In this case, one of the causes of loss is vandalism, as conceded by the IRF, which is a covered cause of loss. (R. 952).

The insuring agreement may be broken into components. The insured has the burden of showing: (1) “direct physical loss of or damage,” (2) to “Covered Property”; (3) the loss occurred at the premises; and (4) the loss was caused by or resulted from a Covered Cause of Loss. In addition, the form entitled “Causes of Loss – Special Form” includes limitations and exclusions.

**D. Direct Physical Loss or Damage**

In considering the various components of the insuring agreement, the trial court erred in its interpretation and application of the language “direct physical loss or damage.” The court disregarded on point South Carolina case law and interpreted “direct physical loss or damage” to

erroneously allow for consequential and non-physical losses or damages, including strictly economic losses and loss of use. The trial court made no attempt to even distinguish the South Carolina authorities cited by the IRF.

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