THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM GREENVILLE COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas
Charles B. Simmons, Jr., Master-in-Equity

Appellate Case No. 2020-000669
Civil Action No. 2016-CP-23-5905

Renewable Water Resources,..... Respondent,

v.

Insurance Reserve Fund, A Division of the State Fiscal
Accountability Authority of South Carolina Appellant.

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT RENEWABLE WATER RESOURCES

NELSON MULLINS RILEY & SCARBOROUGH LLP

Rivers S. Stilwell
William S. Brown
Miles E. Coleman
Katie E. Towery
2 West Washington Street / Suite 400
Post Office Box 10084 (29603-0084)
Greenville, SC 29601
(864) 250-2300

Attorneys for Respondent Renewable Water Resources

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

²⁸ Testimony explaining why remediation of the Mauldin facility could not have begun sooner.

In sum, the lower court's Order articulates findings and conclusions that are sufficient to explain and support its ruling and to eliminate the need for any speculation regarding the court's analysis. These findings and conclusions cite to and are supported by the evidence, and neither Rule 52(a) nor South Carolina precedent impose an obligation on a trial court to make an express finding of fact regarding *every* line item in an exhibit or *every* statement made by the witnesses. Accordingly, the findings and conclusions satisfy the Rule's requirement and should not be reversed.

IV. The supposed "procedural irregularities" did not deprive the IRF of due process or fundamental fairness.

The IRF argues that several "procedural irregularities" infringed on its right to due process and fundamental fairness, and, on this basis, argues the trial court erred by denying the IRF's motion for new trial. *See* IRF's Brief at 45–47. Specifically, the IRF contends its rights were impeded by (1) the IRF's inability to present closing arguments at the conclusion of trial; (2) the fact that ReWa discussed damages in its proposed order, while the IRF did not; and (3) the absence of a court reporter during a telephone call between the parties' counsel and the trial court judge. *Id.* As explained more fully below, the IRF's arguments are not preserved for appellate review and, even if they were, they are meritless.

A. The supposed denial of closing arguments is not preserved for appellate review and, even if it were, South Carolina's courts have never held there is an absolute right to present closing arguments in a civil suit.

The IRF argues that "[a]t the close of the testimony, the parties addressed with the trial court the opportunity to present closing arguments either orally or by proposed orders," but the IRF "was denied the opportunity to provide closing arguments as required under Rule 43(i), SCRPC." *See* IRF's Brief at 45. The IRF cites no Record evidence in support of the foregoing assertions, and a review of the Record reveals no evidence demonstrating that the IRF asked to

present closing arguments, was denied the ability to do so, and contemporaneously objected to that ruling. Rather, the Record indicates only that at the close of evidence, the court and counsel engaged in an extended colloquy in which the court asked counsel questions and permitted them to summarize their positions on key issues in the case. *See* Tr. 708:16 to 737:11 (R. 919:16 to 948:11). Notably absent from that discussion, however, was any request for closing argument or any objection to the absence of the same.²⁹ Because the issue was not raised to and ruled on by the court, it is not preserved for appeal. *See Watson v. Chapman*, 343 S.C. 471, 481, 540 S.E.2d 484, 489 (Ct. App. 2000) (declining to address issue relating to closing argument because “no objection was raised at trial so as to preserve this issue for appeal”); *Hassell v. City of Columbia*, 430 S.C. 620, 637, 846 S.E.2d 373, 382 (Ct. App. 2000) (same); *State v. Hudgins*, 319 S.C. 233, 236, 460 S.E.2d 388, 390 (1995), *rev’d in part on other grounds by State v. Collins*, 329 S.C. 23, 495 S.E.2d 202 (1988) (holding defendant could not appeal a ruling that he had waived his closing argument because the issue was not preserved).

Even if the IRF’s argument regarding the alleged deprivation of a closing argument were preserved (and, as noted above, it is not), it is without merit. Neither the South Carolina Constitution nor Rule 43(i), SCRPC, bestow on civil litigants an absolute right to present closing arguments at trial. Although a criminal defendant has a State and federal constitutional right to a

²⁹ The only Record evidence even mentioning closing arguments are two emails sent on February 27, 2020—nearly a month *after* the trial concluded; *after* the Proposed Orders had been submitted; *after* the trial judge had informed the parties of his ruling; and *after* the trial judge had directed specific changes be made to the Proposed Order to conform it to the precise contours of his ruling. *See* Email from IRF’s Counsel to Judge Simmons (Feb. 27, 2020) (R. 1956–57); Email from Judge Simmons to IRF’s Counsel (Feb. 27, 2020) (R. 1956–57). This “objection” was too little, too late. *See In re McCracken*, 346 S.C. 87, 93, 551 S.E.2d 235, 238–39 (2001) (holding an issue relating to closing arguments is not preserved for review absent a contemporaneous objection); *State v. Johnson*, 363 S.C. 53, 58, 609 S.E.2d 520, 523 (2005) (stating that a contemporaneous objection is necessary to preserve an issue for appeal).

full hearing, including a closing argument,³⁰ no South Carolina court has ever held a civil litigant has an absolute right to present closing arguments. If anything, the contrary is true. *See Foreman v. Foreman*, 280 S.C. 461, 466, 313 S.E.2d 312, 315 (Ct. App. 1984) (holding the trial judge did not err in declining to permit closing arguments following a bench trial); *see also* 6 Am. Jur. Trials 771 § 5 (“Contrary to common belief, the ‘right’ to argue a case to the court after the close of the evidence in a civil case is in fact only a privilege. In a majority of the jurisdictions in which courts have decided this issue, it has been held not prejudicial error to deny such privilege to counsel in civil nonjury trials.”) (citations omitted).³¹ The fact that civil litigants are not guaranteed a closing argument is further demonstrated this Court’s precedent holding that a trial court may direct the parties to submit proposed orders in lieu of closing arguments. *See, e.g., Nelson v. Nelson*, 428 S.C. 152, 178, 833 S.E.2d 432, 446 (Ct. App. 2019) (affirming ruling in a suit in which a “proposed final order [was] submitted in lieu of closing arguments”).³² That, of course, is what the trial court did in the instant proceeding, and the IRF has not (and cannot) establish that the trial court erred by so doing.

³⁰ *See* S.C. Const Art. I, § 14 (stating a person “*charged with an offense* shall enjoy the right . . . to be fully heard in his defense”) (emphasis added); *Herring v. New York*, 422 U.S. 853, 858–59 (1975) (holding the complete denial of a criminal defendant’s opportunity for closing argument infringed on his constitutional right to make his defense).

³¹ The sole case cited by the IRF—*Roof v. Kimbrough*, 297 S.C. 156, 375 S.E.2d 318 (Ct. App. 1988)—does not establish otherwise. Rather, *Roof* stands merely for the undisputed proposition that a trial court has the discretion to limit the length of closing arguments if it sees fit. But the *Roof* appeal did not raise, much less decide, the question of whether civil litigants have an absolute right to present closing arguments.

³² This Court has also affirmed a circuit court’s rulings in an unpublished opinion noting the circuit court had allowed each party to submit their closing arguments in the form of proposed orders. Because the case is unpublished, ReWa mentions it without citation, *see* Rule 268(d)(2), SCACR, merely to illustrate that the practice of submitting proposed orders in lieu of closing arguments is permissible in a variety of contexts.

B. The IRF's alleged inability to discuss damages in its proposed order is not preserved for appellate review and, even if it were, a trial court may limit the scope of arguments at the close of trial.

The IRF argues that the trial court directed the parties to submit proposed briefs in lieu of closing arguments, but “limited the orders to liability issues only,” meaning “the IRF never had the opportunity to argue the damages issue based on the evidence presented at trial and has thus been denied due process.” *See* IRF’s Brief at 45–46. The Record, however, contains no evidence indicating the trial judge ever instructed the parties that their proposed orders could *only* address liability issues or, conversely, that they could *not* address damages.³³ Rather, the sole Record “evidence” of the trial court’s supposed instruction is in an email sent by the IRF’s counsel to the trial judge nearly a month after trial and after the parties submitted their proposed orders, in which counsel summarized his understanding of the judge’s request. *See* Email from IRF’s Counsel to Judge Simmons (Feb. 27, 2020) (R. 1956–57) (“When you asked for proposed orders, you instructed the parties to only address liability issues, which is what we did.”). In a reply email, however, the judge framed his prior statement differently, noting, “As for briefing damages, I did not *request* that since I believe the record is sufficient for those determinations.” Email from Judge Simmons to IRF’s Counsel (Feb. 27, 2020) (R. 1956–57) (emphasis added).

In the absence of any evidence of an order from the judge prohibiting the parties from addressing damages in their proposed orders, the IRF cannot now complain that the judge erred by supposedly making such an order or giving such an instruction. The issue is unpreserved. *See* Rule 210(h), SCACR (“[T]he appellate court will not consider any fact which does not appear in the

³³ Further, ReWa’s counsels’ recollection of the judge’s request for proposed orders differs from the account in the IRF’s Brief. The understanding and memory of ReWa’s counsel is that the judge requested the parties’ proposed orders be limited to 10 pages and “focus on” liability issues, but he did not limit the parties *solely* to that topic nor did he prohibit them from discussing damages.

Record on Appeal.”); *Bauckman v. McLeod*, 429 S.C. 229, 251 n.13, 838 S.E.2d 208, 219 n.13 (Ct. App. 2019) (holding that where the lower court’s order ruling on the disputed issue was not included in the Record, the disputed issue was not preserved for appellate review).

Further, even assuming the issue were preserved for appellate review, and even assuming the trial court did, in fact, prohibit the parties from addressing damages in their proposed orders that were submitted in lieu of closing arguments, such a limitation is not erroneous or reversible. A trial court may, in its discretion, limit the scope of closing arguments and the topics to be addressed therein, and the trial court’s exercise of this broad discretion will ordinarily be upheld. *See State v. Reddick*, 348 S.C. 631, 641, 560 S.E.2d 441, 445 (Ct. App. 2002) (“The trial judge is vested with broad discretion in dealing with the range and propriety of closing argument. [] An appellate court will not disturb the trial court’s ruling regarding closing argument where there is no abuse of discretion.”) (citations omitted); *State v. Condrey*, 349 S.C. 184, 195–96, 562 S.E.2d 320, 325–26 (Ct. App. 2002) (holding the trial judge “properly limited the scope” of closing arguments, and noting that a “trial judge is allowed broad discretion in dealing with the range and propriety of closing argument to the jury,” and “[o]rdinarily, the judge’s rulings on such matters will not be disturbed.”) (citations omitted); *McGee v. Bruce Hosp. Sys.*, 344 S.C. 466, 469, 545 S.E.2d 286, 287 (2001) (noting “the trial court bifurcated the closing arguments for liability and damages”); *Wall v. Keels*, 331 S.C. 310, 321, 501 S.E.2d 754, 759 (Ct. App. 1998) (noting that the “conduct of closing arguments are matters left to the sound discretion of the trial court”) (citations omitted).

A judge’s discretion to limit the parties’ closing arguments (or, in this case, proposed orders) is at its apex in the context of a bench trial, where the judge is presumed to know the law, presumed to disregard inadmissible evidence, and is given broad discretion and presumed to be

competent to evaluate, weigh, and assess the evidence and testimony. *See generally Madren v. Bradford*, 378 S.C. 187, 191, 661 S.E.2d 390, 393 (Ct. App. 2008) (citations omitted); *see also State v. Inman*, 395 S.C. 539, 570, 720 S.E.2d 31, 48 (2011) (Pleicones, J., concurring) (“A judge is presumed to weigh evidence properly.”) (citation omitted); *Orders Distrib. Co., Inc. v. Newsome Carpets & Wallcovering*, 308 S.C. 429, 431, 418 S.E.2d 550, 551 (1992) (affirming trial court’s judgment in a case in which the jury determined liability but the trial judge assessed and awarded damages himself). So too, here, the trial court judge was capable of assessing and weighing the evidence and testimony relating to damages without requiring post-trial briefing or arguments on that topic from counsel.

In sum, the IRF’s argument that it was denied due process and fundamental fairness by being “denied” the ability to discuss damages in its proposed order is not preserved for review and, even if it were, the trial court did not err by declining to request post-trial submissions on a topic that had already been the subject of extensive testimony and discussion by the lawyers during the trial.

C. The absence of a court reporter from a post-trial telephone call between the parties’ counsel and the court is not an issue preserved for appellate review and, in any event, the IRF has not identified any resulting harm or prejudice.

The IRF argues the trial court erred by conducting a post-trial telephone call with counsel without a court reporter. *See* IRF’s Brief at 46–47. The argument fails for at least two independent reasons.³⁴

³⁴ As an initial matter, it appears this issue is unpreserved for review since the IRF expressly told the trial court it “was not objecting” to the call. Specifically, prior to the call at issue, the IRF’s counsel emailed Judge Simmons to request the presence of a court reporter. *See* Email from IRF’s Counsel to Judge Simmons (Feb. 27, 2020 at 8:45 a.m.) (R. 1956–57). Judge Simmons responded, stating there would be no reporter present, but that he was willing to cancel the call if there was an objection to proceeding as he had planned. *See* Email from Judge Simmons to Counsel (Feb. 27, 2020 at 8:58 a.m.) (R. 1956). The IRF’s counsel replied, stating, “*I was not objecting* to the conference call or asking that the call be cancelled,” and noting that “we welcome the opportunity to discuss any issues with the Court.” *See* Email from IRF’s Counsel to Judge Simmons (Feb. 27,

First, the IRF has not asserted any harm, injury, or prejudice caused by the absence of a court reporter. Rather, the IRF's argument is purely a technical and hypothetical assertion that *if* the judge had made a ruling during that call and *if* the IRF wanted to appeal it, then the lack of a transcript could hinder the IRF's ability to appeal. But the IRF has not actually alleged that the judge made any erroneous ruling during the call or did anything during the call that the IRF wishes to appeal. Accordingly, even assuming the absence of a court reporter was an error (an assumption that, as explained in the following paragraph, has no support in the law), it was a harmless error that made no difference and thus provides no basis for a reversal. *See McCall v. Finley*, 294 S.C. 1, 4, 362 S.E.2d 26, 28 (Ct. App. 1987) (“[W]hatever doesn’t make any difference, doesn’t matter.”); *JKT, Co. v. Hardwick*, 274 S.C. 413, 419, 265 S.E.2d 510, 513 (1980) (“An error not shown to be prejudicial does not constitute grounds for reversal.”) (citations omitted); 5A C.J.S. Appeal & Error § 1676, at 678 (1958) (“[H]armless error, that is, error as such, unaccompanied by prejudice or injury, is not ground for reversal.”).

Second, the IRF's argument regarding the absence of a court reporter fails because the IRF has not cited any authority (because there is none) that prohibits a court from communicating with lawyers off the record.³⁵ Rather, the contrary is true. A judge undoubtedly may confer with counsel off-the-record in bench conferences, chambers discussions, telephone calls, and emails. *See, e.g., State v. Washington*, __ S.C. __, __ n.4, __ S.E.2d __, __ n.4, 2020 WL 5225096, at *5 n.4 (Sept. 2, 2020). During such conversations, counsel may make arguments and the court may rule on

2020 at 9:17 a.m.) (R. 1956) (emphasis added). The IRF voluntarily chose to proceed without a court reporter, and cannot now fault the trial court for that decision.

³⁵ Further, the IRF's failure to cite any authority in support of this argument means it has abandoned this issue. *See DiMarco v. DiMarco*, 399 S.C. 295, 301, 731 S.E.2d 617, 620 (Ct. App. 2012) (stating an issue is deemed abandoned and will not be considered on appeal if the appellant fails to support it with any authority).

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